anoth app my

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KIRK A. WOODSON,

Petitioner,

Case No. 87,057

vs.

WILMA MARTIN and MacLEAN REALTY, INC., a Florida corporation,

Respondents.

FILED AAR 18 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JEFFREY N. KRAMER, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 354287 The Walnut Building Suite 312 24 West Third/Street Mansfield, Ohio 44902 (419) 522-7474

AND

HAROLD D. OEHLER, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 855847 Macfarlane Ausley Ferguson & McMullen

Post Office Box 1531 Tampa, Plorida 33601

(813) 273 - 4200

: Maraum

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Kirk A. Woodson, the Plaintiff below, is referred to as "Woodson".

Respondent, Wilma Martin, a Defendant below, is referred to as "Martin".

Respondent, MacLean Realty, Inc., a Defendant below, is referred to as "MacLean Realty".

References to the Record on Appeal are designated by the prefix "R".

References to the attached Appendix are designated by the prefix "App.".

References to the Transcript of Proceedings previously filed with the Second District are referred to as "Tx.".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

1. RESPONDENT'S FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATIONS INDUCED THE SALE OF THE HOUSE WITHOUT AN INSPECTION

Woodson met with Martin, a realtor employed by MacLean Realty, Inc. to be shown a residential property built and sold by Defendants, Michael and Julie Shea. (App. 1). This property was listed by MacLean Realty, Inc. (App. 1). Martin was the contact agent for the Sheas, who had briefly lived in the home. (App. 1-3).

At this first meeting, Martin handed Woodson a fact sheet she authored that stated "This brand new Parkland Estate home features quality construction and finishing touches throughout." (App. 1, 20). Respondents' Multiple Listing Service ("MLS") listing made a similar representation of "Brand new first rate brick construction beautiful moldings throughout". (R. 203). No other property listed on that page of MLS listings had any assurance about the quality of construction. (R. 203; App. 4).

As she showed the house, Martin explained in detail how she had come to know the builders, Michael and Julie Shea, how she had observed and evaluated the house with special interest during its entire construction, and how she had significant expertise in evaluating the quality of residential construction. (App. 1-3). Martin went on to extol the quality of construction throughout the house and other virtues of the house. (App. 1-3). Martin offered her own expert opinion of the extremely high quality of its construction above and beyond other similarly high priced residential properties. (App. 1-2).

Martin's particular representations are more fully detailed in the affidavit of Kirk Woodson attached as an appendix hereto and in the highly detailed factual allegations of the Second Amended Complaint. (R. 147-216). (Woodson verified the allegations in the Second Amended Complaint in his Affidavit at App. 17).

Woodson's affidavit details a course of meetings between Dr. Woodson and his wife, Carolyn, Wilma Martin, and the Sheas in which Martin repeatedly emphasized her expertise in construction, her long experience as a realtor of high priced homes in the south Tampa area, and her particular interest in this house since the very beginning of its construction due to a close working and personal relationship with the Sheas going back to Julie Shea's childhood. (App. 1-6).

Respondent Martin deliberately and carefully invited Woodson's confidence in her judgment by her remarks boasting of the number of important clients that depended upon her judgment in selecting a home, the reliability of her information, and that she had earned a reputation for the highest integrity that she would never risk by making representations about a property she could not fully support. (R. 173-174, §49; App. 15-16).

Martin used this invited confidence to convince Woodson that Martin herself knew the best home inspectors for the south Tampa area and would take it upon herself to provide names of reliable and conscientious inspectors to Woodson for the purpose of

The particular allegations of the Second Amended Complaint which detail the Martin misrepresentations are found at Sections 17-34, 36-37(a), 49(a-n).

conducting the home inspection he and his wife were requesting. (App. 6, 12).

Martin further represented that if there had been any problems with the house, she would have known about them and would reveal them to Woodson as she had been a frequent guest in the house and had baby-sat for the Sheas. (App. 1-3).Martin specifically assured Woodson that she would have been advised of any problems with the house. (App. 3). After being directly questioned about what appeared to be a possible water stain on the ceiling of the upstairs master bedroom, Martin delayed responding by promising to investigate the concern. (App. 5). Later, Martin affirmatively represented that the water stain was not the result of a roof leak, but was the result of champagne that was splashed on the ceiling during a celebration between Mr. and Mrs. Shea sometime before. (App. 18; R. 156 §19; R. 176-178). She represented that the roof had never had any leakage problems and that the stain was not the result of any water damage. (R. 156 §19; R. 176-178). conviction with which she made these statements and her purported qualifications induced Woodson to rely on these statements. (App. 4).

In the course of these events, Ms. Martin repeatedly demanded substantial additional deposits of money in escrow or, she said, the deal would fall apart. (App. 15).

As alleged in Paragraph 37(a) of the Second Amended Complaint, Martin delivered what purported to be an appraisal of the property

by an appraisal firm known as W. H. Copeland & Sons, Inc. to Woodson. (R. 168, 204-212). Martin represented that the appraisal's determined value for the property, \$500,000.00, was what the house was worth. (R. 168, 174; App. 14, 17). This representation was false in that the defects in the house and inferior quality of construction render it worth far less than the purchase price of \$475,000.00. (R. 181; Tx. 44-47).

After receiving the appraisal, Woodson's wife, Carolyn, again requested that an inspection be performed. (App. 5). In response to Carolyn Woodson's request, Martin advised that no inspection was necessary as she had furnished Woodson the appraisal report showing the house to be worth \$500,000.00, and had given them the MLS listing and the MacLean Realty fact sheet which she had personally authored. Martin represented that she had no (App. 7-8).intention of selling a property that she did not feel was accurately represented in her fact sheets. (App. 7-8). assured Carolyn Woodson that she had a sterling reputation in town and that the Woodsons could rely on anything that Martin and MacLean Realty represented about the house. (App. 7-8; R.203, 815, 816)

Woodson relied on Martin's professed expert endorsement of the appraisal value of the property as its true value. (App. 15-16). He relied on Martin's representations that the \$475,000.00 contract price was below true market value solely because of the Sheas being caught in a building recession's financial squeeze. (App. 6). He believed Martin to the extent he made the substantial additional

deposits requested because Woodson believed he was getting a substantial bargain on the property. (App. 13-14).

As the closing date neared, Woodson and his wife again pressed Martin and her fellow associate realtor at MacLean Realty, Phyllis Asti, for the names of qualified home inspectors to check the property. (App. 13). Martin and Asti delayed the inspection by offering a number of excuses over a period of several weeks. (App. 13). Martin coupled her excuses with glowing reassurances of the quality and excellent condition of the property, of her own integrity and ability to offer these expert opinions as justification for urging that Woodson forego further efforts to obtain an independent inspector. (App. 15-16). Martin repeatedly emphasized her roots, reputation and standing in the wealthy South Tampa community in her meetings with Woodson and his wife. (App. 7-8, 15-16).

On one occasion when Woodson, a newcomer to the South Tampa community, insisted on an inspection of the residence, Martin accused Woodson and his wife of suggesting that she was a liar (about the quality and condition of the property), in an effort to convince him not to conduct an inspection. (R. 173-174, 49).

Woodson made the additional deposits demanded of him. (App. 14). His original \$10,000.00 escrow deposit grew to approximately \$30,000.00. (App. 14).

Just days before the closing Martin advised Woodson that the time allowed in the contract for such inspection had now lapsed and added that if Woodson did not go through with the closing, his

entire escrow account would be forfeited to her and her clients under the terms of the contract. (App. 15; R. 808-810). Woodson closed on the property, again relying on Martin's representations about the quality of its construction. (App. 16-19).

After the closing papers were signed, Woodson and his wife overheard an argument between the Sheas and Mrs. Shea's father, Mr. Harris Mullin. (App. 16). The bits the Woodsons could hear consisted of Mr. Mullin demanding that his daughter and son-in-law tell the Woodsons about "problems" they had with the house. (App. 16). The Sheas told Mr. Mullin to be quiet and that everything was taken care of. (App. 17). Upon hearing this discussion, the Woodsons asked Martin what the problems were that the Sheas were referring to. (App. 17). Martin responded by saying "the house is yours, you will find out soon enough". (App. 17).

2. THE HOUSE CONTAINED A NUMBER OF CONCEALED DEFECTS

The representations about the high quality construction of the house and its excellent condition were false. (App. 17-19). The house suffered from a number of latent defects in construction. (see generally \$63 of the Second Amended Complaint; R. 184-187, R. 813-815 and App. 17-19).

A. WATER DAMAGE

One of the most serious concerns was discovery of extensive, progressive and continuing water damage. (App. 17-19). The damage was caused by roof leaks that had twice been previously repaired by the Sheas and from improper brick construction. (App. 18). The

defective brickwork and lack of flashing caused the expensive wood frame windows to rot. (App. 18-19). The rotten window wood had been painted to conceal the rot before Woodson was shown the house. (App. 18-19). The hardwood floors on the first floor progressively buckled as a result of water pooling between that floor and the concrete slab foundation. (App. 17). The pooling of water ultimately caused continuing and persistent infestations of the house by pests. (App. 18).

B. STRUCTURAL DAMAGE

The ceiling in the master bedroom of the residence buckled just a few months after purchase of the house. The buckling of the ceiling occurred because the brick chimney had been installed with its weight resting on otherwise unsupported roof trusses that apparently bowed under the weight, which produced several progressive and concentric splits and a wide separation of the ceiling plaster in the master bedroom ceiling. (App. 18). The condition of the ceiling caused Woodson and his spouse to fear that the ceiling and the chimney would collapse. (App. 17).

C. <u>DEFECTIVE MASONRY WORK</u>

Defective masonry work on the outside included a lack of any flashing in the brickwork above the windows to divert water away from the windows and the wood frame of the building. (App. 17). This allowed passage of water into and along the interior wooden windows and wood framework of the house, eventually collecting between the slab foundation and the wood first floor of the

residence. (App. 17-19). These serious water problems from substandard construction caused premature wood rot and deterioration, and loss of structural integrity. (R. 321-416; 585-774)

Woodson had obligated himself to pay \$475,000.00 for a house with these and more problems. (R. 171; 178-180; 184-187). The misrepresentations that induced him into entering into this transaction were made almost exclusively by Martin, acting on behalf of Maclean Realty. (See App. 1-16).

3. PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT

A multi-count Complaint was filed naming Martin, MacLean Realty, Michael and Julie Shea, and Woodson's own realtor, Paul B. Jackson, as Defendants. (R. 147-216). Fortune Bank later became a party but settled all claims involving it. (R. 147-216).

MacLean Realty moved for summary judgment under the Economic Loss Rule. The motion was heard by The Honorable Guy W. Spicola. At the hearing, Judge Spicola ruled that based upon language in the Florida Supreme Court's recently decided <u>Casa Clara Condominium Association</u>, Inc. vs. Charlie Toppino and Sons, Inc., ² all tort claims, including fraud in the inducement, were barred by operation of the economic loss doctrine. (Tx. 18-21, 27-36, 53).

Judge Spicola did not set forth the basis for his ruling in his order on the motion or the summary judgment itself, but the

Casa Clara Condominium Association, Inc. v. Charlie Toppino and Sons, Inc., 620 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1993).

transcript of the hearing discloses his legal basis. Judge Spicola described the Casa Clara decision as follows:

Casa Clara the greatest thing in the world to reduce attorney's fees and multi-count claims and counterclaims and cross-claims. And lawyers on the clock shall suffer henceforth, says Casa Clara, and computers shall be reprogrammed and word processors reprogrammed and all the law offices of the state because of the Casa Clara hallelujah from the Judge's side. (Tx. 19)....

I am familiar with all of those. Alright. The Supreme Court may have gone too far but they have gone far enough for me to grant summary judgment on Count One. (Tx. 36)

Judge Spicola ruled that Casa Clara was a complete shield to tort liability, even for intentional torts such as fraud in the inducement. (Tx. 18-21, 27-36, 53). He granted the motion for summary judgment on Count One of the Second Amended Complaint and entered Summary Judgment accordingly. (Tx. 36). An appeal timely followed.

The Second DCA affirmed the trial court's decision per curiam. Following a rehearing en banc, the Second DCA affirmed the trial court and certified the following question as a question of great public importance:

Is a buyer of residential property (the appellant) prevented by the "economic loss rule" from recovering damages for fraud in the inducement against the real estate agent and its individual agent (the appellees) representing the sellers?

The majority answered this question in the affirmative.

<u>Woodson v. Martin</u>, 663 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). Six of fourteen judges below dissented, in two opinions.

To the undersigned's knowledge, <u>Woodson</u> is the first opinion from Florida, or any other state court, to hold that a claim for fraud in the inducement is barred by the Economic Loss Rule. Since <u>Woodson</u> was decided, two Florida district courts have ruled contrary to <u>Woodson</u> and held that fraud in the inducement is an exception to the Economic Loss Rule. (These cases are discussed in Section I.B. below).

INTRODUCTION

ISSUE ON APPEAL

IS A BUYER OF RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY PREVENTED BY THE "ECONOMIC LOSS RULE" FROM RECOVERING DAMAGES FOR FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT AGAINST THE REAL ESTATE AGENT AND ITS INDIVIDUAL AGENT REPRESENTING THE SELLERS?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

prior to <u>Woodson</u>, neither the Florida Supreme Court, nor any other court in this state, had ever held that a claim for fraud in the inducement was barred by the Economic Loss Rule. Federal courts interpreting Florida law have consistently ruled that such claims are not covered by the Economic Loss Rule. To the undersigned's knowledge, every state which has previously determined this issue has ruled that fraud in the inducement is not barred by the Economic Loss Rule.

This Court previously ruled, in <u>Johnson v. Davis</u>, that the buyer of residential property has a cause of action for fraud in the inducement against the seller, if the seller induced the sale by fraudulently concealing defects in the property. This duty has been applied to real estate agents and brokers. The Second

District's opinion in $\underline{Woodson}$ ignored this Court's precedent in Johnson v. Davis.

When a realtor uses fraud to induce the sale of property, the realtor violates its independent statutory duties under Florida Statute \$475.25, and its duty under Florida Statute Chapter \$501.201. These violations of a realtor's independent statutory duties give rise to an independent tort claim for fraud in the inducement under the independent tort doctrine.

The trial court in this case also erred by dismissing this case as a matter of law because a claim for fraud in the inducement seeking extra-contractual damages cannot be dismissed as a matter of law based upon the Economic Loss Rule.

Florida law has never allowed the victim of fraudulent misrepresentation to be bound by a contract which was entered into fraudulently. If this Court allowed perpetrators of fraud to use the Economic Loss Rule as a shield from liability, the potential for abuse would be significant.

ARGUMENT

A BUYER OF RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY IS NOT PREVENTED BY THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE FROM RECOVERING DAMAGES FOR FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT AGAINST THE REAL ESTATE AGENT AND THE INDIVIDUAL AGENT REPRESENTING THE SELLERS

- I. THERE IS NO PRECEDENT TO SUPPORT THE EXPANSION OF THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE TO BAR CLAIMS FOR FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT
 - A. THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT HAS ONLY APPLIED THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE TO NEGLIGENCE AND STRICT LIABILITY CLAIMS

This Court has never applied the economic loss rule to a claim for fraud in the inducement. This Court has applied the rule only

to negligence and strict liability claims. Airport Rent-A-Car v. Prevost Car, Inc., 20 FLW (S) 276 (Fla. 1995) (negligence and strict liability); Casa Clara v. Toppino, 588 So.2d 631 (Fla. 1993) (negligence); AFM Corp v. Southern Bell, 515 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1987) (negligence); Florida Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse, 510 So.2d 899 (Fla. 1987) (negligence); Moyer v. Graham, 285 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1973) (professional negligence).

In Woodson, the Second District interpreted dicta in Casa Clara as an indication that this Court would apply the Economic Loss Rule to claims for fraud in the inducement. Specifically, the Woodson court referred to this Court's statement that disappointed economic expectations are protected by contract law rather than "tort law". Woodson v. Martin, 663 So.2d 1327, 1328 (Fla. 2d DCA Nowhere in Casa Clara, however, did this Court indicate that it intended to abrogate fraud in the inducement as a cause of action in Florida. This is significant because this Court has long recognized a cause of action for fraud in the inducement between contracting parties. Wheeler v. Baars, 15 So. 584, 588-589 (Fla. 1894); Huffstetler v. Our Home Life Ins. Co., 65 So. 1 (1914); Joiner v. McCullers, 28 So.2d 823, 824-825 (Fla. 1947); Besett v. Basnett, 389 So.2d 995 (Fla. 1980); Lance v. Wade, 457 So.2d 1008, 1011 (Fla. 1984); Johnson v. Davis, 480 So.2d 625, 627 (Fla. 1985). It is highly unlikely that this Court would have abrogated such a long line of precedent without a single comment indicating its intent.

Judge Altenbernd, in his dissent below, recognized how the majority opinion in Woodson ignored hundreds of years of precedent:

An action for deceit has existed at common law since 1201. William L. Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts, \$105 (4th ed.1971). The modern common law of fraud traces its roots to Pasley v. Freeman, 3 Term Rep. 51, 100 Eng.Rep. 450 (1789). In general terms, the interest protected by fraud is society's need for true factual statements in important human relationships, primarily commercial or business relationships...

... Nothing in Casa Clara causes me to conclude that the supreme court actually intended to abolish a seven hundred-year-old intentional tort in the context of limiting a negligence Although the opinion quickly jumps theory. from the correct term "negligence theory" to overly broad reference to "tort", it contains no discussion of the protected by the intentional tort of fraud. The supreme court refused to make an exception to the economic loss rule for homeowners because they have adequate protection arising "duty of sellers to disclose the defects." 620 So.2d at 1247. The Casa Clara opinion supports that statement with citation to Johnson v. Davis, 480 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1985), a case in which the home buyer's cause of action was fraud in the inducement... Woodson v. Martin, 663 So.2d 1327, 1330 (Fla. 1995)

Judge Lazzara, in his dissent in <u>Woodson</u>, explained that the <u>Casa Clara</u> decision can only be read consistently with the Supreme Court's earlier decision in Johnson v. Davis, 480 So.2d 625 (Fla.

1985), if the decision is limited to tort remedies based on negligence, not intentional fraud:

...the court's refusal in <u>Casa Clara</u> to exempt homeowners from the economic loss rule, when examined in its proper context, did not emasculate <u>Johnson</u> but instead reaffirmed its basic holding as one of the protections still available to purchasers of homes....

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