IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,057

KIRK A. WOODSON,

Petitioner,

VS.

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAY 10 1996

WILMA MARTIN and MacLEAN REALTY, INC.

Respondents.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Robert L. Rocke FBN 710342 Jodi L. Corrigan FBN 901570 ÁNNIS, MITCHELL, COCKEY, EDWARDS & ROEHN, P.A. Post Office Box 3340 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 229-3321

VII.	PRIO	REPRESENTATIONS ON WHICH DR. WOODSON ALLEGEDLY RELIED R TO ENTERING INTO THE CONTRACT ARE NOT REPRESENTATIONS ONABLE IN FRAUD	27
	A.	The House was New	27
	В.	The House was of the Finest and Highest Quality Construction	28

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

To determine whether the economic loss rule bars a tort claim, the federal courts also analyze whether the alleged tort was "independent" of the contract. In fact, several courts have found that fraud in the inducement may be barred by the economic loss rule. See Leisure Founders, Inc. v. CVC Int'l., Inc., 833 F. Supp. 1562, 1572 (S.D. Fla. 1993) ("[t]rue fraudulent inducement attends conduct prior to striking the express or implied contract and alleges that one party tricked

⁹ Although Dr. Woodson argues that federal courts have consistently held that the economic loss rule does <u>not</u> bar claims for fraud in the inducement (IB-17), that argument is not supported by an analysis of the federal cases.

the other into contracting. . . . where the complaint alleges fraudulent inducement, but the facts comprising the fraudulent inducement claim are closely interwoven with those constituting the breach of contract, the economic loss rule bars the pleading of a separate tort claim.")

Fraud in the inducement arises when one party is tricked into contracting, based on precontractual conduct. Williams Elec. Co. v. Honeywell, Inc., 772 F. Supp. 1225, 1238 (N.D. Fla. 1991); see also, K/F Dev. Inv. Corp. v. Williamson Crane & Dozer Corp., 367 So. 2d 1078 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) (alleged warranty delivered at closing and not at time of contract for purchase and sale could not have induced the buyer to enter into transaction), cert. denied, 378 So. 2d 350 (Fla. 19798). Thus, by definition, the fraud has to occur before the contract is signed. Here, Dr. Woodson's fraud claim is based on conduct which he alleges occurred both before and after contracting. The affirmative allegations of the Second Amended Complaint reflect that only Martin's alleged representation as to the house being "new" and of "the highest quality construction" took place prior to the time Dr. Woodson entered into the Contract. (¶ 17). Other representations allegedly took place after Dr. Woodson entered into the Contract. (¶¶ 18-27). Because Dr. Woodson's fraud claim arises from conduct occurring before and after contracting and because there is a specific contractual warranty governing the conduct which allegedly constituted fraud, there is no clearer case of a claim for fraudulent inducement which is not independent of a contract claim.

II. APPLYING THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE TO BAR A FRAUD CLAIM IN THIS CASE, OR IN OTHER CASES WHERE THE CONDUCT CONSTITUTING FRAUD IS THE SUBJECT OF A SPECIFIC CONTRACTUAL PROVISION WOULD NOT ABROGATE THIS COURT'S PRECEDENT IN JOHNSON V. DAVIS.

The District Court's opinion did not ignore the precedent established by this Court in <u>Johnson</u>

<u>v. Davis</u>, 480 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 1985). The Second District simply recognized that the Contract

at issue here contained a "Johnson v. Davis clause" by providing the warranty in ¶ W. Dr. Woodson is attempting to employ a fraud theory perhaps because he negotiated what he now thinks is an inadequate contractual right with the sellers. Woodson v. Martin, 663 So. 2d 1327, 1331 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (Judge Altenbernd dissenting).

Here, the contractual warranty provision -- designed to protect buyers from the very fraud Dr. Woodson advances in his lawsuit, affords the buyer a contractual remedy for conduct which might be difficult to establish constitutes fraud.

III. APPLYING THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE IN THIS CASE DOES NOT ABOLISH FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT.

Application of the economic loss rule to Dr. Woodson's money claim for money damages for fraudulent inducement, does not leave him without a remedy for fraud. It simply denies a financial recovery for the same economic losses which he can recover in contract. Here, Dr. Woodson wants to have his cake and eat it too. He wants a contract claim for money damages and he wants a fraud claim for money damages. Moreover, count IV of the Second Amended Complaint alleges a cause of action for rescission. According to established Florida law, there are two remedies available for fraud in the inducement. The defrauded party can either affirm the contract and seek contract damages for breach of the contract or disaffirm the contract and seek rescission of the contract and restoration to a pre-inducement position. Burton v. Linotype Co., 556 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) rev. denied 564 So. 2d 1086 (Fla. 1990); Hauser v. Van Zile, 269 So. 2d 396, 399 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972) ("[w]here a presumably complete remedy is thus available against the vendor and the plaintiffs' own complaint shows that they pursued the remedy, it is inconsistent to allow the plaintiffs to proceed against the agents for damages, without

some allegation that the remedy pursued against the vendor by rescission was inadequate to fully compensate the plaintiffs").

In this case, Dr. Woodson also seeks to disavow and nullify the purchase contract based on allegations of fraud. (Second Amended Complaint Count IV). Fraud in the inducement remains a viable basis for seeking rescission of a contract. Thus, even if this Court concluded that the economic loss rule barred Dr. Woodson's claim for fraud, Dr. Woodson would not be without a remedy.

Moreover, fraud in the inducement does not cease to exist as a tort. As already discussed, where the resulting damage is personal injury or damage to other property, the independent tort continues to exist. Additionally, fraud in the inducement remains a viable defense against liability on a contract. Poneleit v. Reksmad, 346 So. 2d 615, 616 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977) (a party can successfully defend against liability on a claim by showing that he was fraudulently induced to enter into the contract or transaction upon which such liability is asserted). Applying the economic loss rule to fraud in the inducement, simply requires parties to abide by their contracts and encourages negotiation of contract remedies which are more easily proven and enforced. It provides certainty in contracts. There is no case more compelling than this one to compel a party to abide by his contract.

If this Court was to accept Dr. Woodson's argument, all a party dissatisfied with a contract would have to do is allege that he was tricked into contracting and the contract would cease to dictate the rights and remedies of the contracting parties.

IV. LONG ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES OF CONTRACT LAW PRECLUDE THE FRAUD CLAIM IN THIS CASE.

"[R]epresentations, negotiations and conversations which proceed or are contemporaneous with the making of a contract are presumed to have merged in the written agreement." Azar v. Richardson Greenshields, Sec., Inc., 528 So. 2d 1266, 1269 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). In Azar, the plaintiff alleged that he had entered into an agreement to purchase stock through a brokerage firm as a result of fraud and misrepresentations. He alleged further that he had relied on the broker's representations at the time he purchased the stock. Azar and the brokerage firm executed a Customer Trading Agreement which did not address the representation relating to margin calls. Therefore, because the representations regarding margin calls were not referenced in the Trading Agreement, Azar was not permitted to claim damages as a result of the broker's breach of the agreement to manage the account "in a timely and professional manner." Dr. Woodson's allegations are equally inconsistent with the express contractual language contained in ¶ W.

Moreover, "ordinarily, representations and negotiations which proceed and accompany the making of contracts are presumed to have merged into the final written contract." State Farm Ins. Co. v. Nu Prime Roll-A-Way of Miami, Inc., 557 So. 2d 107, 109 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). In that regard, the Second District Court of Appeal has held that a buyer cannot recover for fraudulent misrepresentation when the alleged representations are not part of the contract. Saunders Leasing Systems, Inc. v. Gulf Central Distribution Center, Inc., 513 So. 2d 1303 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) rev. denied, 520 So. 2d 584 (Fla. 1988). After purchasing trucks which allegedly did not conform to the seller's representations, the buyer sued for fraudulent representations and breach of contract. The court rejected the contract claim because the written contract contained a merger clause and the contract did not reflect any of the alleged representations. If the representations were material,

the court found that they should have been included in the contract. Likewise, the alleged representations were not actionable in fraud.

The <u>Saunders</u>' rationale was also applied in <u>Englezios v. Batmasian</u>, 593 So. 2d 1077 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). In <u>Englezios</u>, the District Court concluded that "[a] party may not recover in fraud for an alleged oral misrepresentation which is adequately dealt with in a later written contract." Moreover, it does not matter whether the misrepresentations were made before or after executing the contract. In <u>Englezios</u>, the tenant alleged that the landlord fraudulently misrepresented that the premises could be used as a restaurant. The lease obligated the tenant to determine the suitability of the premises for a restaurant and if it was not, he could void the lease. Because the essence of the representation was addressed in the lease, the tenant could not recover in fraud.

In this case, the Contract specifically provided in ¶ N that the buyer was entitled to an inspection of the property and that if the buyer failed to inspect the premises and report defects ten days prior to closing, "[b]uyer shall be deemed to have waived Seller's warranties as to defects not reported." (¶ N). Just as in Englezios, the essence of the representations allegedly constituting fraud were specifically addressed in the Contract; therefore, Dr. Woodson may not recover in fraud. Dr. Woodson had an affirmative duty to avail himself of his contractual right to inspect the premises rather than failing to inspect and complaining later that he was deceived by the seller's and the broker's misrepresentation.

V. OTHER STATES SHOW A SPLIT OF AUTHORITY WITH RESPECT TO WHETHER THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE BARS CLAIMS FOR FRAUD.

Although Dr. Woodson claims that other states consistently hold that the economic loss rule does not bar a claim for fraud in the inducement, it is more accurate to state that there is a split of authority on the issue. In fact, New Jersey courts have been inclined to distinguish fraud

extraneous/outside of the contract and fraud "interwoven" with the breach of contract. Public Service Enterprise Group, Inc. v. Philadelphia Electric Co., 772 F. Supp. 184 (D.N.J. 1989). In this case, the alleged fraud is not extraneous to the contractual dispute, but rather another link in the chain of Dr. Woodson's contract claim. The fraud claim is supported by factual allegations identical to those supporting the breach of contract claim. The specific allegations of fraud are alleged to have occurred both before and after contracting.

Moreover, Huron Tool & Engineering Co. v. Precision Consulting Services, Inc., 532 N.W.2d 541 (Mich. App. 1995), does not support Dr. Woodson's claim that fraudulent inducement always constitutes a tort independent of a breach of contract claim. In <u>Huron</u>, the plaintiff purchased a computer software system. Due to defects in the software, he sued the seller for breach of contract and warranty, fraud and misrepresentation. On summary judgment, the court concluded that fraud in the inducement may be an exception to the economic loss rule; however, the court found that the <u>plaintiff had failed to plead such an independent tort</u>. The Court reasoned that damages reflected by a concern about the quality expected by a buyer and promised by a seller are the essence of a warranty action. The court stated that "where the only misrepresentation by the dishonest party concerns the quality or character of the goods sold, the other party is still free to negotiate warranty and other terms to account for possible defects in the goods." Id. at 545. The court ultimately held that the plaintiff could pursue a claim for fraud in the inducement extraneous to the alleged breach of contract. However, the court further found that the representations alleged as fraud related only to the quality and characteristics of the software which were indistinguishable from the terms of the contract which were allegedly breached. Because the allegations of fraud were not extraneous to the alleged breach of contract, the plaintiff was restricted to its contractual remedies.

Huron wholly supports MacLean Realty and Martins' position in this case. In this case, the only alleged misrepresentations concern the quality and character of the house. Dr. Woodson was free to negotiate for warranty provisions and bargain over price. In fact, the contract contained a warranty provision. In addition, Dr. Woodson had a right to conduct an inspection which he failed to conduct. This is not a case where the allegations of fraud were extraneous to the alleged breach of contract. Dr. Woodson, like the plaintiff in Huron, should be restricted to his contractual remedies.

Contrary to Dr. Woodson's statement in his Initial Brief, the Michigan Supreme Court's opinion in Neibarger v. Universal Cooperatives, Inc., 486 N.W.2d 612 (Mich. 1992), did not mirror this court's opinion in Casa Clara. Neibarger did not involve negligence and strict liability claims. Rather, Neibarger involved claims for breach of express warranty, breach of implied warranty and negligence with respect to a cow milking machine which did not operate as anticipated. When the cows became sick and died, the dairy farmer sued the seller of the milking machine. The Michigan Supreme Court's decision in Neibarger is completely inapplicable to this case.

Similarly, Roehm v. Charter Mobile Home Moving Co., 907 F. Supp. 1110 (W.D. Mich. 1993) is equally inapposite. Roehm did not hold that fraud in the inducement was an exception to the economic loss rule under Michigan law. Likewise, in Theuerkaus v. United Vaccines Div. of Harlan Sprague Dawley, Inc., 821 F. Supp. 1238 (W.D. Mich. 1993), the court specifically stated that it need not address whether fraud in the inducement would be barred by the economic loss rule because the question had not been presented. Notably, the court added that the plaintiff could not shield his claims from the application of the economic loss rule by merely seeking

compensation for emotional distress and punitive damages. Such an escape, would swallow the rule.

Dr. Woodson also cites the unpublished decision of the Sixth Circuit in Electromatic Products, Inc. v. Prime Computers, Inc., 884 F.2d 579, 1989 WL 99044 (6th Cir. 1989). Dr. Woodson completely misstates the court's holding. The court in Prime Computers affirmed the lower court's holding that a negligence count was barred under the economic loss rule, and simply noted that the lower court had denied summary judgment with respect to the fraud and misrepresentation counts. There is no discussion as to the reasoning behind the summary judgment claim with respect to the fraud count. Interestingly, in relation to the alleged fraudulent misrepresentations, the court noted that whether the misrepresenting party had actually made certain statements and whether they were more than mere "puffing," was very important to the determination with respect to fraud and justifiable reliance.

VI. DR. WOODSON CANNOT RAISE ANY ARGUMENTS RELATING TO BREACH OF A STATUTORY DUTY BECAUSE HE FAILED TO RAISE THOSE ISSUES BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT, OR THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

Dr. Woodson's arguments with respect to statutory duties were neither raised before the trial court, nor before the Second District Court of Appeal; therefore, it is inappropriate to raise them before this Court. Morales v. Sperry Rand Corp., 601 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1992). See also, Dober v. Worrell, 401 So. 2d 1322 (Fla. 1981).

Sixth Circuit Rule 24(c) states that citation of unpublished dispositions is disfavored except for establishing res judicata, estoppel or the law of the case and requires service of copies of cited unpublished dispositions of the Sixth Circuit. Therefore, the precedential value of this case in Michigan, let alone anywhere else, is highly suspect.

VII. THE REPRESENTATIONS ON WHICH DR. WOODSON ALLEGEDLY RELIED PRIOR TO ENTERING INTO THE CONTRACT ARE NOT REPRESENTATIONS ACTIONABLE IN FRAUD.

Dr. Woodson's alleges that only two representations took place prior to the time he entered into the Contract. Accordingly, only those representations could be considered as claims of fraud in the inducement. It is abundantly clear that these representations do not constitute fraud in the inducement.

A. The House was New.

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